IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN THE MATTER OF PRESTON S., A MINOR CHILD,	1	Nov 24 2014 04:17 p.m. No. 66410 Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court
PRESTON SANDERSON, Appellant, vs.		
THE STATE OF NEVADA, Respondent.		

Appeal from Order after Hearing on Objection to Master's Recommendation for Order in JV14-00030A The Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada Honorable Egan Walker, District Judge, Family Division

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JEREMY T. BOSLER
Washoe County Public Defender
Nevada State Bar No. 4925
JOHN REESE PETTY
Chief Deputy Public Defender
Nevada State Bar No. 10
350 South Center Street, 5th Floor
P.O. Box 11130
Reno, Nevada 89520-0027

I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

On July 31, 2014, Family District Court Judge Egan Walker filed an order that denied Appellant Preston Sanderson's (Preston) request for a hearing de novo, and affirmed the juvenile court master's recommendation on restitution. JA 77-78 (Order after Hearing on Objection filed June 26, 2014) (Order). On August 27, 2014, the Washoe County Public Defender's Office timely filed a notice of appeal from that order. JA 79-80 (Notice of Appeal). Thus, this Court possesses appellate jurisdiction pursuant to Rules 3A(b)(1) and 4(a) of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure, and NRS 62D.500 (providing that appeals "from the orders of the juvenile court may be taken to the Supreme Court in the same manner as appeals in civil cases.").

II. STATEMENT OF THE LEGAL ISSUE PRESENTED

NRS 62B.030(4)(c) provides that "[a]fter reviewing the recommendations of a master of the juvenile court and any objection to the master's recommendations, the juvenile court *shall*: Direct a hearing de novo before the juvenile court if, not later than 5 days after the master provides notice of the master's recommendations, a person

¹ "JA" stands for the Joint Appendix filed together with this opening brief. Pagination conforms to NRAP 30(c)(1).

who is entitled to such notice files with the juvenile court a request for a hearing de novo before the juvenile court" (italics added).

Did Judge Walker violate this statute when he denied Preston's timely request for a de novo hearing before the juvenile court following receipt of the master's recommendation?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State initially charged Preston with malicious destruction of property, a gross misdemeanor. JA 1-3 (Petition). Later the State downgraded the charge to malicious destruction of private property, a simple misdemeanor, JA 4-6 (Amended Petition), and Preston admitted to the offense. JA 7-8 (Master's Recommendation and Order after Plea Hearing) (noting that on May 14, 2014 Preston admitted to the offense in open court). A restitution hearing was set before the juvenile court master. *Id.* at 8. On June 3, 2014, following a contested restitution hearing, the juvenile court master filed her recommendation that Preston be individually "responsible for restitution in the amount of \$2,731.49." JA 19 (Master's Recommendation for Order after Restitution Hearing) (underlining and bold print omitted).

On June 10, 2014, Preston's counsel, Washoe County Deputy Public Defender Tobin Fuss, filed a notice of objection to the juvenile master's recommendation, which specifically requested a hearing de novo before the juvenile court. JA 22 (Notice of Objection to Master's Recommendation for Order after Restitution Hearing) ("The minor requests that the court impose an amount consistent with the amount of restitution for the repair of the glass itself and not the door frame. Further, the minor requests a hearing De Novo to determine what needs to be replaced and what it will cost.") (italics added). A hearing was set for July 17, 2014. JA 24-25 (Notice of Hearing). Prior to the hearing, the parties filed points and authorities. See JA 26-30 (Objection to Master's Recommendation for Order after Restitution Hearing); JA 31-36 (Response to Minor's Objection to Master's Recommendation); and JA 37-41 (Reply to Response to Minor's Objection to Master's Recommendations).

As relevant here, the State objected to a de novo hearing arguing that no extraordinary grounds warranted such a hearing. JA 32-33 (Response to Minor's Objection to Master's Recommendation). Here the State relied upon Rule 32(1)(b) of the local family district court rules,

(WDFCR), which states, "[i]n extraordinary circumstances the court may grant a de novo trial," otherwise an objection "shall be in the form of a review of the record with oral argument, unless otherwise expressly ordered by the court." In response Preston argued that the mandatory language of NRS 62B.030(4)(c) required a de novo hearing where a timely request for a de novo hearing has been made. JA 37-39 (Reply to Response to Minor's Objection to Master's Recommendations). NRS 62B.030(4)(c) states:

After reviewing the recommendations of a master of the juvenile court and any objection to the master's recommendations, the juvenile court shall: Direct a hearing de novo before the juvenile court if, not later than 5 days after the master provides notice of the master's recommendations, a person who is entitled to such notice files with the juvenile court a request for a hearing de novo before the juvenile court.

Judge Walker denied Preston's request for a de novo hearing.

Despite the statute's clear language, Judge Walker said "NRS 62B.030 does not require a trial de novo upon the demand of a party.

Rather, the decision of whether or not a trial de novo should occur rests at the discretion of the District Judge." JA 77 (Order).²

Because Judge Walker's conclusion—that "the decision of whether or not a trial de novo should occur rests at the discretion of the District Judge"—is unmoored from the statute, Preston appeals.

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

NRS 62B.030(4)(c) provides that a juvenile court, after it has reviewed the recommendations of a juvenile court master (and the objection thereto) "shall: Direct a hearing de novo before the juvenile

² Judge Walker's conclusion is consistent with the comments and observations he made regarding the de novo question at the hearing (actually oral argument) below, JA 53-54 (noting that for purposes of the hearing he was relying "on the record below"). See e.g., JA 46-47 (concluding that NRS 62B.030(4)(c) makes NRS 62B.030(4)(a) [sic] "nugatory"); JA 48 ("The question becomes, though, who decides whether or not you get a trial de novo... ."); JA 48-49 ("And so now I'm to the heart of it with you, Mr. Fuss, because it seems like if I read [the statute] the way you would have me read it, (c) only, you get a trial de novo every single time. What difference would any of the rest of this language make?"); JA 50 ("I don't believe [the statute] requires a trial de novo, and I don't think the Legislature or the Supreme Court intended that a District Judge would be boxed into a trial de novo on demand."); JA 53 ("I believe that the decision about whether or not a trial de novo should occur rests at the discretion of the District Judge."); and 74 ("Well, the Court rules take the least precedence to me, you know, the local court rules because they're out-of-date, and again, inconsistent, and it's just remarkable to me how out of step Title 5 continues to be with a lot of other processes. It just really does.").

court if" a timely request for a hearing de novo before the juvenile court is filed by "a person entitled to" notice of the juvenile master's recommendations. The interpretation of NRS 62B.030(4) is a matter of law. This Court attributes the plaining meaning to a statute that is not ambiguous. The use of the word "shall" in a statute imposes a duty to act and prohibits judicial discretion. The text of NRS 62B.030(4) is unambiguous and can be read as a whole without injury to any of the mandatory duties it imposes (including the duty to hold a de novo hearing upon a timely request by an entitled person).

Here, a juvenile court master filed a recommendation to which Preston (an "entitled" person under the statute) filed a timely objection and request for a hearing de novo before the juvenile court. However, Judge Walker denied Preston's request for a de novo hearing despite the statute's clear mandatory language. Judge Walker reasoned that he had plenary discretion to hold or not to hold a de novo hearing stating, "NRS 62B.030 does not require a trial de novo upon the demand of a party. Rather, the decision of whether or not a trial de novo should occur rests at the discretion of the District Court." Judge Walker's conclusion contradicts the statutory text. And, to the extent Judge

Walker grounded his conclusion regarding his discretionary power in the case of *In the Matter of A.B.*, 128 Nev. _____, 291 P.3d 122 (2012) (establishing standards for the review of a *dependency* master's findings of fact and recommendations), his reliance on that case was misplaced.

In sum, governing statutes govern, and NRS 62B.030(4)(c) governed here. Accordingly, Judge Walker violated this statute when he denied Preston's timely request for a hearing de novo before the juvenile court.

V. ARGUMENT

CONTRARY TO JUDGE WALKER'S CONCLUSION THAT NRS 62B.030(4)(c) "DOES NOT REQUIRE A TRIAL DE NOVO UPON THE DEMAND OF A PARTY," THE PLAIN TEXT OF NRS 62B.030(4)(c) DOES REQUIRE A JUVENILE COURT TO DIRECT A HEARING DE NOVO BEFORE THE JUVENILE COURT UPON A TIMELY REQUEST.

Standard of Review

"The interpretation of a statute presents a question of law and is subject to de novo review." *Mendoza-Lobos v. State*, 125 Nev. 634, 642, 218 P.3d 501, 506 (2009) (citing *Firestone v. State*, 120 Nev. 13, 16, 83 P.3d 279, 281 (2004). This Court "attribute[s] the plain meaning to a statute that is not ambiguous," *Id.*, and will not look beyond statutory plain language when the meaning is clear. See *Sheriff v. Witzenburg*,

122 Nev. 1056, 1061, 145 P.3d 1002, 1005 (2006). A statute is ambiguous when it "lends itself to two or more reasonable interpretations." *Mendoza-Lobos v. State*, 125 Nev. at 642, 218 P.3d at 506 (quoting *State v. Catanio*, 120 Nev. 1030, 1033, 102 P.3d 588, 590 (2004) (internal quotation marks omitted).

The text of NRS 62B.030(4) is unambiguous and can be read as a whole without injury to any of the mandatory duties it imposes

In its entirety NRS 62B.030(4) states:

After reviewing the recommendations of a master of the juvenile court and any objection to the master's recommendations, the juvenile court *shall*:

- (a) Approve the master's recommendations, in whole or in part, and order the recommended disposition;
- (b) Reject the master's recommendations, in whole or in part, and order such relief as may be appropriate; or
- (c) Direct a hearing de novo before the juvenile court if, not later than 5 days after the master provides notice of the master's recommendations, a person who is entitled to such notice files with the juvenile court a request for a hearing de novo before the juvenile court. (Italics added.)

Statutes "must be construed as a whole and not read in a way that would render words or phrases superfluous or makes a provision

nugatory. Further, every word, phase, and provisions of a statute is presumed to have meaning." *Butler v. State*, 120 Nev. 879, 892-93, 102 P.3d 71, 81 (2004) (internal quotation marks and footnotes omitted). Statutes impose duties through the use of the word "shall." See NRS 0.25(1)(d) ("Shall" imposes a duty to act."); *Goudge v. State*, 128 Nev. _____, ____, 287 P.3d 301, 304 (2012) ("[W]hen used in a statute, the word 'shall' imposes a duty on the party to act and prohibits judicial discretion and, consequently, mandates the result set forth by statute.") (citing Johanson v. Dist. Ct. 124 Nev. 245, 249-50, 182 P.3d 94, 97 (2008) for the proposition that "shall is mandatory and does not denote judicial discretion." (internal quotation marks omitted)).

NRS 62B.030(4) mandates, through the use of the disjunctive term "or," three possible courses of action for a juvenile court³ after it has reviewed the recommendations of a juvenile court master (and the objection thereto). Under subsections (a) and (b) the juvenile court must either approve or reject, in whole or in part, the master's recommendations and enter an appropriate order. However, under

³ NRS 62A.180(1) defines "juvenile court" as "each district judge who is assigned to serve as a judge of the juvenile court pursuant to NRS 62B.010 or court rule."

subsection (c), the juvenile court must "direct a hearing de novo before the juvenile court" where a timely request for a de novo hearing is requested by "a person who is entitled to" notice of the master's recommendations. Thus, contrary to Judge Walker's belief—See JA at 46-47 (concluding that subsection (c) makes the rest of the statute "nugatory") and JA at 48-49 (concluding that subsection (c) allows for a trial de novo "every single time" so "[w]hat difference would any of the rest of the [statutory] language make?")—subsection (c) does not obliterate the rest of the statute because invocation of subsection (c) requires, as a condition precedent, two things: (1) a timely request; made by (2) an "entitled" person. Absent such an authorized request, the juvenile court is not required to direct a de novo hearing before the juvenile court and is, instead, free to resolve the master's recommendations (and the objection thereto) under subsections (a) or (b). However, when a timely request for a de novo hearing before the juvenile court is received, the juvenile court is not free to deny a de novo hearing, and nothing in the statute credits the juvenile court the plenary discretion or authority to ignore its plain language. Thus, Judge Walker's conclusion that the decision to hold a de novo hearing "rests at

the [sole] discretion of the District Judge," and his belief that neither the Legislature nor this Court would box a district judge "into a trial de novo on demand," JA 50, are wrong as a matter of law.⁴

<u>Preston's request for a de novo hearing before the juvenile court was timely made</u>

As noted in the preceding section, under NRS 62B.030(4)(c) a juvenile court must direct a hearing de novo before the juvenile court if two conditions are met: (1) a timely request is made; by (2) an "entitled" person. Preston, as the juvenile in this matter, is clearly an "entitled" person under the statute.

Although not raised as an issue below, it is important here to show that Preston's request for a de novo hearing before the juvenile court was timely made. The juvenile master's recommendation was filed on June 3, 2014. JA 12 (Master's Recommendation for Order after

⁴ Having said that, Preston informs the Court that forty-two years ago in the case of *Trent v. Clark Cnty. Juvenile Court Services*, 88 Nev. 573, 576, 502 P.2d 385, 387 (1972), this Court concluded that a timely request for a hearing under then NRS 62.090(4)—which was repealed in 2003 and replaced by NRS 62B.030(4)—did not require the juvenile court to hold a de novo hearing. Notably, that repealed statute—reproduced in footnote 6 of the Court's opinion—did not specifically provide for a de novo hearing (only "a hearing"). Today, NRS 62B.030(4)(c) does. Preston submits that the legislative action taken since *Trent* renders that case inapposite and no longer controlling authority.

Restitution Hearing). Preston's notice of objection and request for a de novo hearing was filed on June 10, 2014. JA 21 (Notice of Objection to Master's Recommendation for Order after Restitution Hearing). NRS 62B.030(4)(c) requires that the request for a de novo hearing be filed "not later than 5 days after the master provides notice of the master's recommendations." The Second Judicial District Court uses an eFlex (or electronic-filing) system. The district court's Administrative Order 2013-035 provides that "[t]he three additional days to respond to a paper served by mail or electronic means provided under NRCP 6(e) shall apply to computation of time to respond to papers served via the eFlex filing system." Thus, because the juvenile master's recommendation was filed on June 3, 2014, Preston had at least until June 11, 2014, to file his request for a de novo hearing (5+3 days). Preston's request was filed on June 10, 2014. Accordingly, Preston's request for a de novo hearing under NRS 62B.030(4)(c) was timely made.

///

///

⁵ This administrative order was filed on December 3, 2013, captioned: "In the Administrative Matter of: Computation of Time to Respond to Documents Served Using the Electronic Filing System."

WDFCR 32(1)(b) does not compel a different result

WDFCR 32(1)(b) states:

A hearing on an objection to a master's recommendation shall be in the form of a review of the record with oral argument, unless otherwise expressly ordered by the court. In extraordinary circumstances the court may grant a de novo trial.

Judge Walker did not rely upon this local court rule in denying Preston's request for a de novo hearing before the juvenile court.⁶
However, the State did argue below that this rule precluded de novo review, JA 32-33 (Response to Minor's Objection to Master's Recommendation), so it is important to show why this rule is not preclusive, even if applicable. There are at least two alternative reasons why the local court rule does not compel a different result.

First, not every juvenile court master's recommendation is going to generate an objection, and not every objection is going to generate a

⁶ Perhaps Judge Walker did not rely on WDFCR 32(1)(b) because local court rules, in his view, are "out-of-date, and again inconsistent." JA 74. Judge Walker's view here is similar to his views on Title 5 of the Nevada Revised Statutes. See *Id.* (stating that "it's just remarkable to me how out of step Title 5 continues to be with a lot of other processes."); and JA 52 (stating that NRS 62B.030(4)(c) "like many statutes in Title 5, is inconsistent internally and with process in other cases.").

request for a de novo hearing before the juvenile court. Thus, this Court can harmonize WDFCR 32(1)(b) with NRS 62B.030(4)(c) by simply equating the "timely request made by an entitled person" requirement of the statute with the "extraordinary circumstances" standard in the local court rule. As a result, a timely request under the statute authorizes a de novo hearing under the local court rule—and those objections that are handled under subsections (a) or (b) of NRS 62B.030(4), will naturally conform to that part of WDFCR 32(1)(b) that allows "a review of the record with oral argument." Second, in the absence of a harmonic reading, the local court rule must give way to the statute. See Knox v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 108 Nev. 354, 357, 830 P.2d 1342, 1344 (1992) (holding that "a district court may not use its local rules to defeat the right of litigants to access to the court."); cf. Western Mercury, Inc. v. The Rix Co., 84 Nev. 218, 223, 438 P.2d 792,

⁷ <u>See</u> *Quinlan v. Camden USA, Inc.*, 126 Nev. ____, ____, 236 P.3d 613, 615 (2010) ("this court will interpret a rule or statute in harmony with other rules and statutes, especially where, as here, one provision is silent on specifics included in another") (quoting Albios v. Horizon Communications, Inc., 122 Nev. 409, 418, 132 P.3d 1022, 1028, 1030-31 (2006) (internal quotation marks omitted)); *Williams v. Clark Cnty. Dist. Attorney*, 118 Nev. 473, 485, 50 P.3d 536, 543 (2002) (recognizing this Court's obligation to construe statutory provisions in harmony with each other when possible).

795 (1968) (noting that although the district courts "have rule making power, ... the rules they adopt must not be in conflict with the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure.").

If this Court finds that WDFCR 32(1)(b) and NRS 62B.030(4)(c) can be construed harmoniously, then Preston is entitled to a de novo hearing before the juvenile court because he satisfied the statute's filing requirements. If this Court concludes that the local court rule and the statute cannot be read in harmony, then the statute controls and Preston, having satisfied the statute's requirements, is entitled to a hearing de novo before the juvenile court.

Judge Walker's reliance on In the Matter of A.B. was misplaced

In his order and at the hearing below Judge Walker relied on *In the Matter of A.B.*, 128 Nev. _____, 291 P.3d 122 (2012), in concluding that he had plenary discretionary power to decide whether a de novo hearing would be held. See JA 78 (Order) (noting that the Court "has exercised its independent review of the facts" pursuant to *In the Matter of A.B.*); and JA 48 (Transcript of Proceedings: Hearing on Objection to Master's Findings) (finding process set out in *In the Matter of A.B.* the same as the one he has "always applied" to objections to a master's

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