IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN THE MATTER OF: PRESTON S.,
A MINOR CHILD,

PRESTON SANDERSON,
Appellant,
v.
STATE OF NEVADA,
Respondent.

Electronically Filed Jan 23 2015 02:36 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman No. 66469k of Supreme Court

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

JEREMY T. BOSLER Public Defender

JOHN REESE PETTY Chief Appellate Deputy P.O. Box 11130 Reno, Nevada 89520 CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS District Attorney

SHELLY K. SCOTT Deputy District Attorney P.O. Box 11130 Reno, Nevada 89520

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

I.	STATEMENT OF FACTS AND THE CASE
II.	STATEMENT OF THE LEGAL ISSUES PRESENTED 3
III.	ARGUMENT
	A. WHEN READ AS A WHOLE, NRS 62B.030 SUPPORTS JUDGE WALKER'S CONCLUSION THAT THE DISTRICT JUDGE HAS THE DISCRETION TO DETERMINE THE FORM OF THE HEARING ON THE OBJECTION
	B. THE REORGANIZATION OF NRS CHAPTER 62 BY THE LEGISLATURE DOES NOT ALTER THE APPLICABILITY OF THIS COURT'S CONCLUSIONS IN <i>TRENT</i> TO THE CASE AT BAR
IV.	CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Page</u>
Butler v. State 120 Nev. 879, 892-93, 102 P.3d 71, 81 (2004)
City of North Las Vegas v. Eighth Judicial District Court 122 Nev. 1197, 147 P.3d 1109 (2006)
Diaz v. Golden Nugget 103 Nev. 152, 734 P.2d 720 (1987)
In the Matter of AB v. Eighth Judicial District Court 291 P.3d 122, 128 Nev. Adv.Op. 70 (2012) 3, 9, 10
Sheriff, Clark County. v. Burcham 124 Nev. 1247, 1253, 198 P.3d 326, 329 (2008)
State v. Lucero 127 Nev, 249 P.3d 1226, 1228 (2011)
Swisher v. Brady 438 U.S. 204, 98 S.Ct. 2699, 57 L.Ed. 2d 705 (1978) 6, 10
<i>Trent v. Clark County Juvenile Court Services</i> 88 Nev. 573, 502 P.2d 385 (1972)
Other Authority
Black's Law Dictionary 738 (8 th ed. 2004)
NRCP 53 10
Senate Bill 197
WDFCR 24 4
WDFCR 31 4, 10
WDFCR 31(6) 6
WDFCR 32(b)
WDFCR 32(1)(b) 2

Statutes

NRS 206.330 1
NRS 62.090 7, 11
NRS 62.090(4)
NRS 62A.180(2) 10
NRS 62B.030
NRS 62B.030 (1)-(3) 4
NRS 62B.030 (4)(c)
NRS 62B.030(3)
NRS 62B.030(4)
NRS 62B.030(4) (a)-(c)
NRS 62B.030(4)(c)
NRS 62B.030(5)
NRS 62C.230 1
NRS Chapter 62

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

No. 66410

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

I. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND THE CASE

The State filed an Amended Petition on May 7, 2014, alleging the Appellant, minor Preston Sanderson, committed the delinquent act of property destruction as defined in NRS 206.330. JA pp. 004-006. On May 17, 2014, Appellant admitted to the petition as alleged, was placed under supervision of the Department of Juvenile Services and the juvenile court pursuant to NRS 62C.230, and a hearing was set to determine the amount of restitution owed. JA pp. 007-011. On June 3, 2014, after a full evidentiary hearing, the juvenile master recommended that the amount of restitution

owed by Appellant be set at \$2731.49. JA pp. 012-020.

Appellant objected to the Master's Recommendation for Order and requested a "de novo" hearing. JA pp. 021-023. Appellant set forth two arguments. First, Appellant asserted that NRS 62B.030(4)(c) requires the district judge to hold a hearing de novo upon request. Second, Appellant asserted that a de novo hearing is warranted in this case to "determine the appropriate amount for the cost to repair the glass and frame in the sliding door" (JA pp. 027-028) and to present evidence to the juvenile court judge that Appellant failed to elicit at the evidentiary hearing before the juvenile master. JA pp. 049, 060. The State responded that the local court rules (WDFCR Rule 32(1)(b)) outline the manner in which the juvenile court judge carries out his duties of review under NRS 62B.030 and that absent "extraordinary circumstances" the review of any objection to a master's recommendation, "shall be in the form of a review of the record with oral argument...." JA pp. 031-036.

On July 17, 2014, the parties appeared before the Honorable Egan Walker, District Judge, for a hearing on Appellant's objection. Judge Walker denied the request for hearing de novo stating:

I believe that the decision about whether or not a trial de novo should occur rests at the discretion of the District Judge. And I've reviewed the evidence in this case, I've reviewed the testimony in this case, and all the records in the file, and I do not find that additional factual evidence would assist me in deciding. The second step of the Supreme Court holding in the case entitled *In the Matter of A.B.*, is:

The Court determines the applicable facts and requires an - the exercise of independent judgment to determine, based on the facts and the law, the case's proper resolution. ... So the facts are those which have been developed, and I have the exhibits available to me.

JA pp. 053.

After taking arguments from counsel, Judge Walker affirmed the recommendations of the juvenile court master. JA pp. 077-078. The minor now appeals from that Order, filed July 31, 2014. JA pp. 079-080.

II. STATEMENT OF THE LEGAL ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1) Does NRS 62B.030(4)(c) mandate a "hearing de novo" upon request or is a hearing de novo only one of many options for judicial review outlined in NRS 62B.030(4) (a)-(c) and left to the discretion of the juvenile court judge?
- 2) Does Judge Walker's independent review of the evidence presented, the testimony taken, and the record of the case constitute a "hearing de novo" as contemplated by NRS 62B.030 (4)(c)?

III. ARGUMENT

A. WHEN READ AS A WHOLE, NRS 62B.030 SUPPORTS JUDGE WALKER'S CONCLUSION THAT THE DISTRICT JUDGE HAS THE DISCRETION TO DETERMINE THE FORM OF THE HEARING ON THE OBJECTION.

Statutes "must be construed as a whole and not read in a way that would render words or phrases superfluous or makes a provision nugatory. Further, every word, phrase, and provision of a statute is presumed to have meaning." *Butler v. State*, 120 Nev. 879, 892-93, 102 P.3d 71, 81 (2004). Accordingly, we must look at NRS 62B.030 in its entirety to appropriately interpret the

language of the statute.

NRS 62B.030 (1)-(3) and the local court rules (WDFCR 24 and 31) outline the authority and duties of a master of the juvenile court. The master is empowered to swear witnesses, take evidence, make findings and recommendations, and conduct all proceedings of the juvenile court, subject to review by the juvenile judge. The master is also required to provide notice of those findings and recommendations:

A master of the juvenile court shall provide to the parent or guardian of the child, the attorney for the child, the district attorney and any other person concerned, written notice of:

(a) The master's findings of fact;

(b) The master's recommendations;

(c) The right to object to the master's recommendations; and

(d) The right to **request** a hearing de novo before the juvenile court as provided in subsection 4.

NRS 62B.030(3), emphasis added.

Notably the statute does not provide the parties or parents with notice that they have a right to a hearing de novo, only a right to request one. In contrast, the ability to object to a master's findings and recommendations is given as a matter of right.

The duty of the juvenile court judge to conduct a review of the master's findings and recommendations is set forth in NRS 62B.030(4):

After reviewing the recommendations of a master of the juvenile court and any objections to the master's recommendations, the juvenile court **shall**:

(a) Approve the master's recommendations, in whole or in part and order the recommended disposition;

(b) Reject the master's recommendations, in whole or in part, and order such relief as may be appropriate; **or**

(c) Direct a hearing de novo before the juvenile court if, not later than 5 days after the master provides notice of the master's recommendations, a person who is entitled to such notice files with the juvenile court a request for a hearing de novo before the juvenile court.

NRS 62B.030(4), emphasis added.

The State concurs that the juvenile court is required to act on any findings or recommendations made by the juvenile master in one of three ways. We disagree that a timely request by a person entitled to make a request for a hearing de novo, **mandates** the juvenile court to direct a de novo hearing. As written, subsection 4 (c) contemplates that the juvenile court must **consider** the option of a de novo hearing only if the condition precedent, a timely request, is met. So long as the juvenile court approves, rejects **or** directs a hearing de novo on the master's recommendations and findings, he has complied with the statute.

The local court rules are consistent with this interpretation of the statute. WDFCR 32(b) describes the manner in which the required review may be carried out when an objection is filed. The rules mandate that a hearing on an objection "shall be in the form of a review of the record with oral argument, unless otherwise expressly ordered by the court."

If the court were to adopt the Appellant's reading of the statute, either the minor or the State could force a second trial or hearing for every case brought before the juvenile master. A minor could force the State to re-try cases where the master had made a finding of delinquency in hopes for a better result. Additionally as here, a minor could force a new hearing in order to present evidence that the minor failed to proffer at the hearing before the master. Arguably, the State could likewise also force a new hearing in order to present additional evidence in cases where the master had not issued a finding of delinquency, because the recommendation of the master is not effective until expressly approved by the juvenile court judge.¹

B. THE REORGANIZATION OF NRS CHAPTER 62 BY THE LEGISLATURE DOES NOT ALTER THE APPLICABILITY OF THIS COURT'S CONCLUSIONS IN TRENT TO THE CASE AT BAR.

The precise issue now presented by Appellant was addressed by this court previously in the matter of *Trent v. Clark County Juvenile Court Services*, 88 Nev. 573, 502 P.2d 385 (1972). There, as here, the minor asserted that NRS 62.090(4) (re-numbered in 2003 as NRS 62B.030(4)) and the local

¹NRS 62B.030(5), WDFCR 31(6); see also, Swisher v. Brady, 438 U.S. 204, 98 S.Ct. 2699, 57 L.Ed. 2d 705 (1978), which found no double-jeopardy bar to a judge's review of a master's findings. ("[I]t is for the State, not the parties, to designate and empower the factfinder and adjudicator. And here Maryland has conferred those roles only on the Juvenile Court judge. Thus, regardless of which party is initially favored by the master's proposals, . . . the judge is empowered to accept, modify, or reject those proposals."); In re Anderson, 272 Md. 85 A.2d 516 (1974), holding that a hearing before a master is not such a hearing as places a juvenile in jeopardy; In re Henley, 9 Cal.App.3d 924, 930-931, 88 Cal.Rptr. 458 (1970), the order of the referee dismissing the petition was a conditional order subject to be set aside by the judge of the juvenile court. It was not a final adjudication of acquittal by a court of competent jurisdiction, but in effect was subject to review and approval by such judge.

rules were in conflict and that per the statute he was entitled, as a matter of right, to a new evidentiary hearing in front of the juvenile judge upon request. This Court fully addressed Appellant's arguments in that decision and found Appellant's reading of the statute erroneous. In *Trent*, *supra*, this Court held that the purpose and intent of the statute (NRS 62.090) was to "provide a more expeditious manner of hearing and disposing of juvenile cases" and to read NRS 62.090(4) as mandating a new evidentiary hearing in front of the juvenile judge upon request of the parties would make the statute meaningless. *Trent*, *supra*. supports Judge Walker's decision, that upon the request for a re-hearing the district judge must review the record of the proceedings before the master and may, but is not required to, conduct a new evidentiary hearing.

In 2003, the Legislature passed Senate Bill 197 that repealed and reorganized all sections of the Nevada Revised Statutes dealing with juvenile justice to make them more manageable and easier for the public and practitioners to navigate. Appellant correctly points out that as enacted, the term "de novo" was added to the statute during the course of that reorganization and renumbering. Where NRS 62.090(4) provided that "a hearing by the court shall be allowed...," the reorganized and renumbered statute, NRS 62B.030(4) provides for a "hearing de novo before the juvenile court...." The question then becomes, what is meant by the phrase "hearing

de novo"?

Although it does not appear that the Nevada Supreme Court has addressed the meaning of "hearing de novo" as contemplated in NRS 62B.030(4), that phrase has been utilized by this Court to mean both "without deference" to the earlier hearing (City of North Las Vegas v. Eighth Judicial District Court, 122 Nev. 1197, 147 P.3d 1109 (2006)) and a "re-hearing on the merits including new evidence" (Diaz v. Golden Nugget, 103 Nev. 152, 734 P.2d 720 (1987)). Likewise, Black's Law Dictionary 738 (8th ed. 2004) has defined the phrase "hearing de novo" as when the reviewing court conducts a new hearing on a matter and either (1) merely gives "no deference" to the lower tribunal's rulings, or (2) treats the matter "as if the original hearing had not taken place." (Emphasis added). Appellant asserts the term "hearing de novo" mandates the taking of new evidence as if "the original hearing had not taken place." Whereas Respondent argues the appropriate interpretation of that phrase is that the juvenile court has the option of giving "no deference" to the master's findings and recommendations when an objection is raised. This ambiguity in the statute can be clarified by looking at the legislative intent contained in the history of SB 197.

"When interpreting a statute, legislative intent is the controlling factor."

State v. Lucero, 127 Nev. _____, 249 P.3d 1226, 1228 (2011) (internal quotation marks omitted). To determine legislative intent of a statute, this

court will first look at its plain language. *Id.* "But when the statutory language lends itself to two or more reasonable interpretations, the statute is ambiguous, and [this court] may then look beyond the statute in determining legislative intent." *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted). When interpreting an ambiguous statute, "we look to the legislative history and construe the statute in a manner that is consistent with reason and public policy." *Id.* "Additionally, statutory construction should always avoid an absurd result." *Sheriff, Clark County. v. Burcham*, 124 Nev. 1247, 1253, 198 P.3d 326, 329 (2008) (internal quotation marks omitted).

A review of the Senate Committee Minutes makes it clear that no substantive changes were intended by the massive undertaking in SB 197. Senator Valerie Weiner said:

The bill before you represents an exceptional effort in reviewing and reorganizing in a manageable chapter, every section of Nevada law relating to juvenile justice, juvenile corrections, and interstate compact. In that vein I want to stress one point. The intent of our efforts was to reorganize the statutes. We did not go into this project with any effort to address substantive issues.

(Minutes of the Senate Committee on Judiciary, March 7, 2003; Supplemental Appendix, pp. 1-16.)

This Court's recent analysis contained in *In the Matter of AB v. Eighth Judicial District Court*, 291 P.3d 122, 128 Nev. Adv.Op. 70 (2012) supports the position that the juvenile court must exercise its independent evaluation of the

facts adduced at a hearing before the juvenile master:

Although the juvenile court may adopt the master's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous, a master's findings and recommendations are only advisory, and the juvenile court is not obligated to adopt them. The juvenile court [meaning district judge] ultimately must exercise its own independent judgment when deciding how to resolve a case.

Appellant's assertion that *In the Matter of AB* is inapplicable here because that case occurred in the context of a dependency action rather than a delinquency case, is misplaced. The Court in *In the Matter of AB*, examined the role of the master in a juvenile proceeding and the proper function of the juvenile court judge. The powers of a master in a dependency proceeding closely mirror those powers assigned to a master of the juvenile delinquency court. *Compare*, NRS 62B.030, NRS 62A.180(2), NRCP 53, WDFCR 31. Likewise, the function of the juvenile court in reviewing either the delinquency or dependency master's findings of fact and recommendations is the same. *Swisher v. Brady*, 438 U.S. 204, 98 S.Ct. 2699, 57 L.Ed. 2d 705 (1978), illustrates the two step approach in delinquency matters:

it is for the State, not the parties, to designate and empower the factfinder and adjudicator. And here Maryland has conferred those roles only on the Juvenile Court judge. Thus, regardless of which party is initially favored by the master's proposals, ... the judge is empowered to accept, modify, or reject those proposals.

Because the intent of the 2003 Nevada Legislature was not to alter the substantive meaning of NRS 62.090, and this Court previously determined that a new evidentiary hearing was not mandated by that statute, the

appropriate reading of NRS 62B.030(4) is that the juvenile court in

conducting a "hearing de novo" of the record below, must give no deference to

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